THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM OCONEE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

J. Cordell Maddox, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2011-CP-37-279
Appellate Case 2014-001282

RECEIVED

AUG 27 2015

SC Court of Appeals

Mariam R. Noorai.....Appellant,

v.

School District of Pickens County, School District of Oconee County, and
Gary Culler, Donald Boggs, Richard Hudak, Earnestine Williams, Marilyn
Raines and Dr. Kelly Pew in their individual capacities,

Of whom the School District of Pickens County and Gary Culler

areRespondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT MARIAM R. NOORAI

R. Mills Arial, Jr.
Law Office of R. Mills Arial, Jr.
11 North Irvine St. Suite 11

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the Circuit Court erroneously grant summary judgment in favor of the School District of Pickens County, and against Ms. Noorai, on the negligent misrepresentation cause of action, given that Ms. Noorai presented admissible summary judgment evidence in support of each element of this cause of action?

2. Did the Circuit Court erroneously grant summary judgment in favor of the School District of Pickens County, and against Ms. Noorai, on the breach of contract cause of action, given that Ms. Noorai presented admissible summary judgment evidence that Principal Culler and other employees breached the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing, and the South Carolina statutory provisions, implied by law into her contract?

3. Did the Circuit Court erroneously grant summary judgment in favor of the School District of Pickens County, and against Ms. Noorai, on the breach of contract accompanied by fraudulent acts cause of action, given that Ms. Noorai presented admissible summary judgment evidence not only of a breach of her contract but of conduct by school district employees that amounted to dishonesty in fact and unfair dealing?

4. Did the Circuit Court erroneously grant summary judgment in favor of Principal Culler and against Ms. Noorai on the intentional infliction of emotional distress cause of action, given that Ms. Noorai presented admissible summary judgment evidence of all elements of this claim?

5. Did the Circuit Court, in violation of Rule 56, SCRCF, and Ms. Noorai's state and federal due process rights, commit reversible error by terminating the summary judgment

before Ms. Noorai's attorney had the opportunity to make responsive arguments on her behalf?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 21, 2011, Plaintiff-Appellant Mariam N. Noorai filed a civil action for damages against the following Defendants: the School District of Pickens County ("SDPC"), the School District of Oconee County ("SDOC"), Gary Culler, Donald Boggs, Richard Hudak, Earnestine Williams, Marilyn Raines and Dr. Kelly Pew in the Court of Common Pleas for Oconee County, South Carolina. (Supp. R. p. 2). In this action, the Plaintiff alleged that she was injured by the tortious conduct and breach of contract by the Defendants. The Plaintiff sought to recover damages for these injuries.

The Defendants SDPC, Gary Culler, Donald Boggs, Richard Hudak, Marilyn Raines, and Dr. Kelly Pew filed an Answer on May 18, 2011, denying liability and raising various affirmative defenses. The Defendants SDOC and Earnestine Williams, filed an Answer on April 28, 2011, denying liability and raising various affirmative defenses.

On June 11, 2012, the Plaintiff filed a Second Amended Complaint in the action. (R. p. 9). The Defendants SDPC, Gary Culler, Donald Boggs, Richard Hudak, Marilyn Raines, and Dr. Kelly Pew filed an Answer on June 29, 2012, denying liability and raising various affirmative defenses. (R. p. 30). The Defendants SDOC and Earnestine Williams filed an Answer on June 22, 2012, denying liability and raising various affirmative defenses.

On February 11, 2014, the SDPC, Gary Culler, Donald Boggs, Richard Hudak, Marilyn Raines and Dr. Kelly Pew moved for summary judgment on all claims. On

February 11, 2014 Defendants SDOC and Earnestine Williams also moved for summary judgment on all claims. The matter came before the Honorable J. Cordell Maddox, Jr., Circuit Court Judge, on April 17, 2014 for a hearing. The Circuit Court, however, ended the hearing after hearing argument on only the first two causes of action. By Order filed May 13, 2014, the Court granted summary judgment in favor of all Defendants and against the Plaintiff on all claims. (R. p. 70).

On June 11, 2014, the Plaintiff filed and served a Notice of Appeal.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In August of 2007, the SDPC hired Mariam R. Noorai to work as an eighth grade English/Language Arts teacher at R.C. Edwards Middle School in Pickens County, South Carolina, for the 2007 to 2008 school year. (Supp. R. p. 40, lines 1-7). The SDPC also tasked her with teaching the yearbook class and with producing the school's yearbook. (R. p. 13, para. 10; Supp. R. p. 41, lines 13-24). Pursuant to her contract with the SDPC, Mr. Noorai received a salary of approximately \$40,000 for performing these duties. (R. p. 206 p. 24, lines 5-8). At this time, the SDPC employed Dr. Chuck Pressley as the Edwards principal. (Supp. R. p. 40, lines 5-7).

Ms. Noorai began teaching English and writing to the eighth grade students and also taught the yearbook class. She performed her employment duties in an exemplary and highly professional manner. In February of 2008, however, a student at Edwards sexually assaulted Ms. Noorai. She reported the incident to Dr. Pressley. Under Dr. Pressley's leadership, the school pressed charges against the student and law enforcement arrested him. The student was placed on homebound instruction and Ms. Noorai was relieved from having to teach him again. (R. p. 2, para. 4).

Despite this highly disturbing incident, Ms. Noorai continued to perform her employment duties in an exemplary and highly professional manner. She received high ADEPT teaching standards scores and the yearbook published under her supervision was widely viewed as a success. (R. p. 13 at 11). At the end of the 2007 to 2008 school year, the SDPC offered Ms. Noorai a second employment contract entitled Contract for Employment for the 2008-2009 school year. (R. p. 191). The agreement provided that it was an “Annual First Year” contract as defined by S.C. Code Ann. § 59-26-40; that Ms. Noorai would render teaching services for 190 days for the 2008-2009 school year; and that the SDPC would pay for these services during the “life of this contract. . . .”

She signed the contract. The new contract provided for a salary “right above” \$40,000. (Supp. R. p. 45, lines 13-17; Supp. R. p. 59, lines 12-13).

After Ms. Noorai signed this contract, the SDPC announced that the Defendant Gary Culler had been assigned to be the principal at Edwards. Ms. Noorai did not know Mr. Culler before this appointment. (Supp. R. p. 45, line 24-p.46, line 1). The SDPC also changed Ms. Noorai’s teaching duties. As she explained in her deposition:

We were now on an A/B schedule, so it was no longer a semester long course I taught half team six in the fall and team five in the spring. It was then a class where I had to teach an A/B switching schedule. And also the District had required that I was not to teach a writing class. I was to enrich and enhance all English language arts standards for eighth grade and English I.

(Supp. R. p. 46, lines 8-15). Because Ms. Noorai was also required to teach the yearbook class, the new teaching duties placed greater stress on her and required her to give up a daily planning period in order to teach all the classes. (Supp. R. p. 48, lines 1-5). In fact, Ms. Noorai “had the heaviest workload of any core teacher in the school.” (Supp. R. p. 49, lines 10-16).

During the 2008 to 2009 school year, the SDPC also employed: Donald Boggs and Mary Bridges as the Edwards assistant principals; Marilyn Raines as the head of the Edwards English Department; and Richard Hudek as an Edwards industrial arts teacher. In addition, the SDPC employed Dr. Kelly Pew as the Assistant Superintendent of Human Resources for the SDPC. (R. p. 12, paras. 4-6, 8-9).

As the 2008 to 2009 school year progressed, Principal Culler began to harass, intimidate, and bully Ms. Noorai in violation of her contract. Principal Culler made Ms. Noorai feel “uncomfortable from the beginning” of their relationship. (R. p. 207 at 36, line 8). Ms. Noorai noticed that Principal Culler looked at her in a “leering” fashion. He also had a strange habit of “cornering” her in a room or a hall when he talked to her, so as to block the exit. In addition, Mr. Culler was “very argumentative” with and “aggressive” toward Ms. Noorai. (R. p. 207 at 36, lines 13-23; Supp. R. p. 55, line 24-p. 56, line 2). Ms. Noorai found Mr. Culler’s conduct toward her to be “intimidating” and, eventually, she became “scared” of him. (Supp. R. p. 56, lines 5-12). She decided that the best plan was to avoid him as much as possible. (Supp. R. p. 56, lines 21-23).

As the 2008 school year progressed, Principal Culler’s harassment, intimidation, and bullying of Ms. Noorai escalated. The first incident of this behavior arose from a student plagiarizing incident in November of 2008. Following her discovery of plagiarism by the student, Ms. Noorai reported the student to Mr. Boggs for discipline. (Supp. R. p. 60, lines 4-23). Mr. Boggs, however, simply gave the student a “zero” for the assignment and took no further disciplinary action. (Supp. R. p. 63, lines 21-25). Believing that further discipline was warranted, according to discipline policy as written in the R. C. Edwards Middle School Handbook for the 2008-2009 school year, Ms.

Noorai reported the situation to Principal Culler. Although Principal Culler agreed that further discipline was warranted, (Supp. R. p. 67, line 16-p. 68, line 2), he never imposed any further discipline on the student. Instead, Principal Culler told Ms. Noorai that Mr. Boggs was unhappy that Ms. Noorai had complained to Principal Culler. (Supp. R. p. 68, lines 15-21). In this regard, Principal Culler confronted Ms. Noorai and, “in loud, intimidating and angry terms denounced the Plaintiff for consulting with Culler after Boggs had ‘handled’ the student’s discipline.” (R. p. 13, para. 14).

Despite her conflicts with Principal Culler, Ms. Noorai in December of 2008 signed a letter of intent with the SDPC that indicated that she intended to stay at Edwards. (Supp. R. p. 70, lines 3-4, 12-19). Ms. Noorai nonetheless felt overwhelmed by having to teach 10 classes plus the yearbook class. She considered leaving the Pickens County School District for the Oconee County School District because of her workload. (Supp. R. p. 72, line 24, p. 73, lines 17-23).

As the year progressed, the new and heavier workload imposed on Ms. Noorai began to impact her ability to perform her teaching duties at the highest level. Ms. Noorai expressed concerns about her heavy workload to Marilyn Raines and Principal Culler. (Supp. R. p. 49, lines 11-12). Ms. Raines advised Ms. Noorai to resign from teaching the yearbook class. (Supp. R. p. 49, lines 24-25). Principal Culler also initially seemed sympathetic to Ms. Noorai’s work load problems and, in December of 2008, told her he would not force her to be the yearbook adviser for the 2008-2009 school year. (Supp. R. p. 51, lines 16-25, p. 52, lines 1-8). Ms. Noorai took Mr. Culler at his word and thanked him. (Supp. R. p. 52, lines 6-11).

Ms. Noorai nonetheless decided to explore her options and, in January of 2009, applied for a position in the Oconee County School District. (Supp. R. p. 76, lines 1-2). She interviewed with the Oconee County School District on February 10, 2009. (Supp. R. p. 90, lines 4-7).

During the spring semester of 2009, three incidents occurred that underscored Ms. Noorai's concerns that Principal Culler was engaged in a pattern of harassment, intimidation, or bullying toward her and was also allowing others at the school to treat her in the same fashion. On January 27, 2009, during a class change, a male student at Edwards confronted Ms. Noorai in a locker area where the students kept their books. There were stairs "going out on either side" of the stairwell. (Supp. R. p. 91, lines 18-22). This was an area where there had been "past scuffles" and teachers knew "you had to be very vigilant." (Supp. R. p. 92, lines 4-6). The area was "right below Mr. Culler's office" and near the area where Mr. Boggs usually stationed himself during class changes. (Supp. R. p. 128, lines 7-8).

The male student was larger, wider, and taller than Ms. Noorai. (Supp. R. p. 93, lines 5-6). He "began singing a very inappropriate sexually explicit song in which he inserted my name." He kept repeating the lyric "I'm ready to go right now" with her name in the lyrics. (Supp. R. p. 93, lines 11-21).

Ms. Noorai in a loud voice told the student "this is not appropriate. You need to stop." (Supp. R. p. 93, lines 24-25). She expected Mr. Boggs, or some other teacher, to hear her loud voice and rescue her, but "nobody did." (Supp. R. p. 94, line 20). As Ms. Noorai explained in her deposition, however, the student:

[J]ust kept on, and I was pinned because I was at the stairwell, and I could have fallen down the stairwell. The railing that's between going down and

going up was at my back. And he came and wrapped himself around me as he's singing these lyrics about being obsessed with me and wanting to have sex right then. And he pinned himself, and I was only slightly able to turn so that it wasn't full frontal contact between his organs, I guess, and mine. . . . And it was very uncomfortable because that was extremely inappropriate. And I was scared about falling down the steps, and there was nothing I could do to stop it.

(Supp. R. p. 94, lines 2-16). Finally, the student "let go, had a smile on his face, and he just walked away." (Supp. R. p. 95, lines 21-22).

Ms. Noorai immediately filed a complaint in Mr. Boggs' office. She filled out a "referral" form describing the incident and explaining that the student had "pinned" then "hugged her" while singing the lyrics. (Supp. R. p. 97, lines 4-24). Although Ms. Noorai did not characterize the incident as a physical or sexual assault in her referral, she considered the incident to be both a physical and sexual assault. (Supp. R. p. 98, lines 18-24).

She missed school the next day. Ms. Noorai did not report the assault to the police because she assumed the school district would do so. (Supp. R. p. 104, lines 2-11).

The student subsequently assaulted another student. Although the student was briefly suspended for this assault, Mr. Culler and Mr. Boggs incredibly allowed the student - after the suspension ended - to return to Ms. Noorai's class without any additional discipline whatsoever. (Supp. R. p. 122, lines 12-17). Having to face in class every day the very person who had sexually assaulted her without being disciplined, Ms. Noorai not surprisingly began to develop symptoms of post-traumatic stress disorder. As she explained in her affidavit:

At the time that I was sexually assaulted for the second time on January 27, 2009 I followed procedure, reporting it immediately to Mr. Boggs (vice-principal in charge of discipline) in writing as I was supposed to. However, he did nothing about it. Mr. Culler was the new principal. The

student was not referred to DJJ, to the solicitor, to the sheriff nor to the family court. The student was even allowed to participate back in my class after he was suspended for an assault on another student. The student was never disciplined for his assault on me. This assault was more violent in nature, and, as a result, I started having symptoms of PTSD.

(R. p. 2, para. 5).

The second and third disturbing incidents occurred in April of 2009. Ms. Noorai's health began to decline. Her gall bladder basically stopped functioning. On April 2, 2009, doctors operated on Ms. Noorai for gall bladder problems. (R. p. 3, para. 8). Following this surgery, Ms. Noorai did not return to her teaching duties until April 15, 2009. On her first day back, Principal Culler called her into his office and told her he "had changed his mind" - he would require her to continue teaching the yearbook class for the 2009-2010 year. (Supp. R. p. 165, lines 12-21). He also told her that she "would have a bigger workload because it was a larger class." (Supp. R. p. 149, lines 9-10). He ignored her fragile physical and emotional condition and put more pressure on her. (R. p. 3, para. 8).

On April 23, 2009, Ms. Noorai, in accordance with school policy, kept a student beyond the end of the class period so he would be able to complete an exam. She gave the student a pass to explain his late arrival to his second period shop class with Mr. Hudak. (R. pp. 208-209 at 123, lines 19-25, 124, lines 13-18). On this day, Ms. Noorai was in a very weak and very pale condition as a result of her recent surgery. She still had "a tube sticking out of me." (R. p. 210 at 126, lines 17-18).

Mr. Hudak returned the student to Ms. Noorai with a note that the student would not be accepted to his class. The note also directed Ms. Noorai to send the student the next day. (Supp. R. p. 142, lines 1-4). At the end of the second period, Mr. Hudak, a "big, puffy, muscular, large man," (R. p. 210 at 126, line 14), "stormed into the hallway

outside Plaintiff's classroom doorway, verbally berating and belittling her in front of students. Verbally angered and with the intent to harass and intimidate Plaintiff, Hudak then stormed from the classroom...." (R. p. 17, para. 29). As Ms. Noorai recalled the incident in her deposition:

And I went down there and he started verbally berating me and screaming at me for being unprofessional for keeping a student. And he just went off and was screaming and shouting as my students were walking into my classroom. . . . He was screaming and shouting. It didn't matter what I said, he didn't hear me. He was gesticulating with his finger. I mean, it was a horrible, screaming, shouting thing. He was so angry that when he stood to leave, because it was getting ready for the late bell to ring . . . , he then stood back, slammed into one of my eighth grade students who was trying to enter my classroom. The girl hit the door and slammed her head, and I had to send another student to get ice for injury that Mr. Hudak caused and completely ignored.

(R. p. 211 at 127, lines 13-25, 128, lines 1-7). Ms. Noorai was quite frightened and "in fear of "Mr. Hudak during this incident. (R. p. 216 at 140, lines 1-5).

The Hudak incident was reported to Mr. Culler. Mr. Culler took no meaningful disciplinary action against Mr. Hudak but simply told Ms. Noorai to avoid him. (R. p. 18, para. 33). Mr. Hudak began sending intimidating emails to Ms. Noorai. (R. pp. 2-3, para. 6). In particular, Mr. Hudak on May 1, 2009, sent Ms. Noorai "a horrible, aggressive, nasty e-mail" that accused her of being unprofessional and further claiming that Principal Culler agreed she had been unprofessional. The email stated:

You seem to have lost sight that what you did was wrong. Keeping a student out of your class without that permission from that teacher is inconsiderate and unprofessional. . . . And then compounding the offense by putting a student in the middle of conflicting directions is worse.

(Supp. R. p. 153, lines 11-14, p. 154, lines 6-8).

The email upset Ms. Noorai so badly she "almost fainted." (R. p. 213 at 133, lines 17-22). She complained to Principal Culler who told her to stop having contact with

Mr. Hudak. Specifically, he told her “there will be no more contact and no apologies on either side.” (R. p. 215 at 139, lines 11-12).

By the end of the school year, Ms. Noorai “had endured so much that ... [she] felt forced to resign and seek employment elsewhere.” (R. p. 3, para. 7).

She “suffered both emotional and physical health problems as result of ...[her] treatment at the school as well from ...[her] excessive work load which included being in charge of the yearbook.” (R. p. 3, para. 7).

By contract dated May 15, 2009, the SDPC offered Ms. Noorai a “continuing contract” for the 2009 and 2010 school year. The contract required her to indicate her acceptance of the agreement by signing and returning the original to the SDPC superintendent. “(R. p. 217 at 146, lines 15-24).

Ms. Noorai decided that she could not continue her 2008 to 2009 workload for another year. She decided that she had to be relieved of the yearbook duties in order to continue. She told Principal Culler that “if I was going to be required or forced to do yearbook, that I would be unable to sign my contract.” (R. p. 220 at 151, lines 18-19). Ms. Noorai also was uncertain as to whether she wanted to return to Edwards for another school year because the environment at Edwards “was no longer a safe environment for me or my students. “(R. p. 221 at 152, lines 12-13).

On May 22, 2009, Mr. Culler summoned Ms. Noorai to his office to discuss whether she would sign the SDPC contract. Despite her misgivings about renewing her contract, Ms. Noorai was still open to signing the contract. As the meeting progressed, however, Principal Culler treated her in a “belittling manner.” He called her a “little writing teacher.” (R. p. 222 at 153, lines 7-12). He told her to sign the contract but

promised her that if she found another job in a month, he would “let her out” of the contract. The meeting ended on this note. (R. pp. 222-223 at 153, line 23-25, 154, lines 1-2).

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