THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

**RECEIVED**

APR 27 2015

APPEAL FROM OCONEE COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

**SC Court of Appeals**

J. Cordell Maddox, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2011-CP-37-279  
Appellate Case 2014-001282

Mariam R. Noorai,

Appellant,

v.

School District of Pickens County,  
School District of Oconee County,  
and Gary Culler, Donald Boggs, Richard  
Hudak, Ernestine Williams, Marilyn  
Raines, and Dr. Kelly Pew, in their  
individual capacities,

Respondents.

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS  
SCHOOL DISTRICT OF PICKENS COUNTY,  
GARY CULLER, DONALD BOGGS,  
RICHARD HUDAK, MARILYN RAINES  
AND DR. KELLY PEW**

David T. Duff

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

## ARGUMENT

### I. Standard of Review

In considering whether an order of summary judgment by a trial court was appropriate, an appellate court applies the same standard of review as the trial court. *David v. McLeod Reg'l Med. Ctr.*, 367 S.C. 242, 247, 626 S.E.2d 1, 3 (2006). An order of summary judgment under Rule 56, SCRPC, is proper when there is no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Harris Teeter, Inc. v. Moore & Van Allen, PLLC*, 390 S.C. 275, 701 S.E.2d 742 (2010) "when plain, palpable, and indisputable facts exist on which reasonable minds cannot differ." *Byerly v. Connor*, 307 S. C. 441, 445, 415 S.E.2d 796, 799 (1992). "In determining whether any triable issues of fact exist, the court must view the evidence and all

reasonable inferences that may be drawn from the evidence in the light most favorable to the non-moving party.” *David*, 367 S.C. at 247, 626 S.E.2d at 3.

A party opposing a motion for summary judgment may not rest on the mere allegations of his pleadings, but must set forth specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue of material fact to be considered by a jury. *Thomas v. Waters*, 315 S.C. 524, 445 S.E.2d 659 (Ct. App. 1994). If the party opposing summary judgment “fails to make a showing sufficient to establish the existence of an element essential to the party’s case and on which that party will bear the burden of proof at trial,” *Carolina Alliance for Fair Employment v. S.C. Dep’t of Labor, Licensing, & Regulation*, 337 S.C. 476, 485, 523 S.E.2d 795, 800 (Ct.App. 1999), the opposing party fails to establish the existence of a genuine issue of material fact “since a complete failure of proof concerning an essential element of the nonmoving party’s case necessarily renders all other facts immaterial.” *Baughman v. American Tel. & Tel. Co.*, 306 S.C. 101, 116, 410 S.E.2d 537, 546 (1991). Inadmissible testimony, including hearsay, suppositions, speculation, and bald allegations, are insufficient to create a genuine issue of fact. *Id.*; *see also David*, 367 S.C. at 250, 626 S.E.2d at 5 (“summary judgment is completely appropriate when a properly supported motion sets forth facts that remain undisputed or are contested in a deficient manner”). Thus, in opposing the Pickens District’s Motion for Summary Judgment, Appellant could not rest on the mere allegations of her Complaint or her suspicions, but was required to set forth or point to specific admissible facts showing that there is a genuine issue of material fact to be considered by a jury. *Hoard ex rel. Hoard v. Roper Hosp., Inc.* 387 S.C. 539, 549, 694 S.E.2d 1, 6 (2010); *Dawkins v. Fields*, 354 S.C. 58, 70-71, 580 S.E.2d 433, 439 (2003).

## **II. The Circuit Court Properly Granted Summary Judgment to these Respondents.**

Appellant's case is built primarily on suspicion and speculation rather than admissible evidence. She failed to produce admissible facts showing the existence of a genuine issue of material fact requiring the consideration by a jury, and the trial court properly granted summary judgment to the Respondents.

### **A. The Pickens District is entitled to summary judgment because Appellant failed to establish the essential elements of negligent misrepresentation by the District.**

In her cause of action for negligent misrepresentation, Appellant claims that the Pickens District, through Culler as principal of Edwards Middle School and Pew as Assistant Superintendent for Human Resources, falsely represented that she was required to submit a letter of resignation. (R. p. 22, ¶ 57). She also claims that Culler, through Assistant Principal Mary Bridges, falsely told her that her license to teach would be "pulled" or cancelled if she did not submit a resignation letter. (R. p. 20, ¶ 43). She asserts that she reasonably relied on this representation and submitted the resignation letter, which caused her pecuniary loss because she lost her employment. (R. p. 23, ¶¶ 62-63).

To establish a claim of negligent misrepresentation by the Pickens District, Appellant must prove: (1) a false representation made by the Pickens District to the Appellant; (2) a pecuniary interest by the Pickens District in making the statement; (3) a duty of care owed by the Pickens District to see that truthful information was communicated to the Appellant; (4) the Pickens District breached the duty by failing to exercise due care; (5) Appellant justifiably relied on the representation; and (6) Appellant suffered a pecuniary loss as a proximate result of her reliance on the District's

representation. *Turner v. Milliman*, 392 S.C. 116, 123, 708 S.E.2d 766, 769 (2011); *Quail Hill, LLC v. Cnty of Richland*, 387 S.C. 223, 240, 692 S.E.2d 499, 508 (2010). The duty of care owed is “not a duty to take every possible care, still less is it a duty to be right; it is the familiar duty to exercise that care a reasonable man would take in the circumstances.” *AMA Mgt. Corp. v. Strasburger*, 309 S.C. 213, 223, 420 S.E.2d 868, 874 (Ct.App. 1992). In addition, for a representation to be actionable, it “must relate to a present or pre-existing fact and be false when made.” *Sauner v. Pub. Serv. Auth. of S.C.*, 354 S.C. 397, 408, 581 S.E.2d 161, 167 (2003), quoting *Koontz v. Thomas*, 333 S.C. 702, 713, 511 S.E.2d 407, 413 (Ct.App. 1999). “There is no liability for casual statements, representations as to matters of law, or matters which plaintiff could ascertain on his own in the exercise of due diligence.” *Quail Hill, LLC*, 387 S.C. at 240, 692 S.E.2d at 508, quoting *AMA Mgt. Corp. v. Strasburger*, 309 S.C. at 223, 420 S.E.2d at 874; *see also Carolina Chloride, Inc. v. Richland Cnty*, 394 S.C. 154, 714 S.E.2d 869 (2011). Appellant does not produce evidence to support the necessary elements of negligent misrepresentation.

**1. Appellant cannot establish that she suffered a pecuniary loss as a proximate result of her reliance on the Pickens District’s representation.**

Perhaps the strongest argument against Appellant’s right to recover against the Pickens District on a negligent misrepresentation claim is that Appellant was not damaged through her submission of a written notice of resignation. Accordingly, although the element of resulting pecuniary loss appears at the end of the list of elements constituting negligent misrepresentation, the Pickens District discusses it before addressing the remaining elements.

The pecuniary loss Appellant claims as a result of the alleged misrepresentation that she was required to submit a written notice of resignation is that she is no longer employed. (R. p. 23, ¶ 63). However, Appellant herself decided not to return to teach at Edwards Middle School and rejected the contract of employment the Pickens District offered her for the school year 2009-2010. Her loss of employment was not due to the Pickens District's insistence on compliance with a procedural requirement of a written notice of resignation, which is the alleged misrepresentation, but to her earlier decision not to accept the proffered employment contract. The letter of resignation was of no consequence to her lack of employment; Appellant did not lose her job and was not prevented from obtaining further employment because of the resignation letter, regardless of whether the Pickens District falsely stated its resignation requirements to her.

Appellant argues that her written notice of resignation from the Pickens District served as grounds for other school districts not to hire her and to prevent her from receiving unemployment benefits. First, this argument and the testimony Appellant cites as support for this claim were not presented to the trial court and cannot not, therefore, be included in the Record or considered by the appellate court. *Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 497 S.E.2d 731 (1998); Rule 210(c), SCACR. Second, the testimony is speculative and hearsay and, for those reasons, is incompetent evidence and, therefore, insufficient to defeat summary judgment.

Appellant cannot establish that her lack of employment in 2009-2010 and later was due to and proximately caused by a misrepresentation by the Pickens District. Her lack of employment was instead due to her own decision and actions. Even if the Pickens District misrepresented the manner in which teachers must notify it of their resignations,

Appellant was not damaged because her decision not to return to her position was independent and separate from the alleged misrepresentation.

**2. The Pickens District exercised reasonable care and made no false representation to Appellant regarding its request for a written notice of resignation.**

Although the practice of requiring a written resignation notice was not included in Appellant's one-page employment contract (R. p. 191) or in statute, several witnesses provided testimony that the practice of the Pickens District was to require a written notice of resignation. Appellant produced no evidence contradicting that testimony. There is, therefore, no triable issue of fact on this issue. When viewed in the light most favorable to Appellant, the evidence and all reasonable inferences that may be drawn from it establish that the Pickens District exercised reasonable care and that the alleged misrepresentation of which Appellant complains was in fact not false, but true.

Pew, who as Assistant Superintendent for Human Relations was responsible for overseeing the employment of teachers by the Pickens District, testified that the Pickens District's practice was to ask for and collect written resignation letters or notices from those teachers who do not sign contracts of employment for the following year and who intend to resign. As she explained,

[O]ur contracts clearly say they have ten days to sign their contract. However, our practice is, that if a person intends to resign, we ask that they write a resignation letter. We do that to benefit the employee, because we give more than 1,200 contracts in a year. We want to make sure that we don't get an unsigned contract or we don't get a contract returned to us because somebody laid it down, it got put somewhere, and we take the name to the board to terminate them and that was not their intention. And that resignation letter ensures that we understand that their intention is to resign.

...

We ask that they say that they do intend to resign, and we ask that it's attached to the contract. That way, we take it to the board and we can post the position.

(R. p. 354, line 13-p. 355, line 5).

Culler testified consistently with Pew: it was the Pickens District's procedure to request a written resignation letter from any teacher who did not choose to accept and sign a proffered contract. (R. p. 330, lines 19-22). Mary Bridges, the assistant principal, agreed that the Pickens District's practice was to require a written notice of resignation from a teacher before declaring the teaching position vacant and filling it with a new hire. She viewed the procedure and described it to Appellant as simply "needing to 'tie up a loose end.'" (R. p. 411-412, ¶ 8). Appellant herself confirmed the gist of this testimony by Pew, Culler and Bridges: she said that Culler told her directly that "he wanted me to write a letter of resignation so that he could interview. And until I wrote this letter of resignation, he could not interview anybody for my position . . . ." (R. p. 225, lines 8-12; *see also* R. p. 226, lines 4-9).

Pew also testified that the Pickens District had never had a teacher in that situation refuse to provide a resignation letter. (R. p. 355, lines 6-16). Culler similarly had never known a departing teacher not to turn in a resignation letter when requested. (R. p. 333, lines 5-6). The Pickens District had never encountered this situation with any other teacher; it was uncharted territory.

Appellant cannot establish that the Pickens District, through Culler, Bridges, or Pew, made a false representation when they told her that it required non-returning teachers like her to provide written resignation letters. It was, in fact, the Pickens District's practice and procedure to require written statements of resignation from

teachers so that it would not mistakenly proceed to fill positions that teachers did not intend to relinquish. Thus, not only was this representation not false, but it was made in an effort to protect teachers, including Appellant, from having the Pickens District mistakenly replace them with new hires. As Pew explained, “For us, it is a situation where we are ensuring that the employee truly intends to resign, that somehow the contract did not get lost in the shuffle. And with as many employees as we have, that is just a very clear way for us to understand their intentions.” (R. p. 355, lines 16-21).

Appellant also cannot establish that the Pickens District misrepresented to her that she could have her teaching certificate revoked by the State Department of Education if she refused to provide a written resignation notice and subsequently left the Pickens District for another position. Culler and Bridges apparently believed that to be the case. Bridges stated that she was concerned that if Appellant refused to provide formal written notice of resignation and subsequently obtained another teaching position elsewhere, she could be at risk of having her teaching certificate revoked by the State Department of Education. (R. p. 411, ¶ 8). Culler had a similar concern. (R. p. 331, line 4-p. 332, line 4). Indeed, if a teacher does not resign but takes employment with another district without obtaining a release from her contract, she can be deemed to have abandoned her teaching position, which is, in fact, cause for the State Department of Education to revoke the teacher’s certificate. *See* S.C. Reg. 43-206.

Even if Bridges and Culler were mistaken in their belief that Appellant’s teaching certificate could be at risk if she failed to submit a resignation letter at the end of the contract period, their representation was a statement about a future event and, therefore, was not actionable. *Sauner*, 354 S.C. at 408, 581 S.E.2d at 167 (2003). In addition, their

representation regarding whether Appellant could or would lose her teaching certificate was on a matter of law, which is also not actionable. *See Carolina Chloride, Inc.*, 394 S.C. at 166-68, 714 S.E.2d at 875-76 (county is not liable for a mistaken representation regarding a matter of law); *Quail Hill, LLC*, 387 S.C. at 240, 692 S.E.2d at 508 (misrepresentations as to matters of law are not actionable).

Moreover, a mistaken representation is not, by itself, actionable. The Pickens District's duty of care to Appellant was not to be right, but simply to take reasonable care. There is no evidence that either Culler or Bridges acted unreasonably in their efforts to protect Appellant from the consequences of her actions. *See AMA Mgt. Corp.*, 309 S.C. at 223, 420 S.E.2d at 874.

Because Appellant cannot establish genuine issues of material fact as to the falsity of the representations made by the Pickens District or the breach by the Pickens District of a duty of care to Appellant, the Pickens District is entitled to judgment as a matter of law on the Second Cause of Action.

**3. The School District of Pickens County had no pecuniary interest in misrepresenting its need for a written notice of resignation from Appellant.**

Appellant alleges that the Pickens District had a pecuniary interest in falsely telling her that it needed a written resignation letter from her. However, the only reasonable inference from the evidence is that the requirement of a written notice of resignation did not serve the pecuniary interest of the Pickens District, but instead was intended to protect Appellant's teaching position in case of a misunderstanding and she did not intend to resign. As Pew testified,

We do that to benefit the employee, because we give more than 1,200 contracts in a year. We want to make sure that we don't get an unsigned

contract or we don't get a contract returned to us because somebody laid it down, it got put somewhere, and we take the name to the board to terminate them and that was not their intention. And that resignation letter ensures that we understand that their intention is to resign.

(R. p. 354, lines 16-24).

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